
 

 

USER’S GUIDE 
 

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS 
AND VOTING PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 
Annual Meeting 
 
Q: Why am I being provided access to these proxy materials? 
 
A: We are providing you access to these proxy materials in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the 

Board for use at the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held exclusively virtually on Thursday, May 
19, 2022 at 10:00 a.m. Pacific Time, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof, for the purpose of 
considering and acting upon the matters described herein. These materials were first sent or given to 
shareholders on or about April 1, 2022. You are invited to virtually attend the Annual Meeting and requested 
to vote on the items described in this proxy statement. 
 

 
Q: What is the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials? 
  
A: In accordance with rules and regulations adopted by the SEC, instead of mailing a printed copy of our proxy 

materials to all stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, Infinera is furnishing the proxy materials to 
its stockholders via the Internet. If you received a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the 
“Notice”) by mail, you will not receive a printed copy of the proxy materials. Instead, the Notice will instruct 
you as to how you may access and review the proxy materials and submit your vote via the Internet. If you 
received a Notice by mail and would like to receive a printed copy of the proxy materials, please follow the 
instructions for requesting such materials included in the Notice. 

 
Choosing to receive the Notice by email will save us the cost of printing and mailing the documents to you and 
will reduce the impact of the Annual Meeting on the environment. If you choose to receive the Notice by 
email, you will receive an email next year with instructions containing a link to the proxy materials and a link to 
the proxy voting site. Your election to receive the Notice by email will remain in effect until you terminate it. 
 
On the date of mailing of the Notice, all stockholders of record and beneficial owners will have the ability to 
access all of our proxy materials on a website referred to in the Notice. These proxy materials will be available 
free of charge. 
 

 
Q: Where is the Annual Meeting? 
 
A: The Annual Meeting will be held virtually at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/INFN2022. 
 
 
Q: How can I attend the virtual Annual Meeting? 
 
A:  The Annual Meeting will be a completely virtual meeting of shareholders conducted exclusively by a live audio 

webcast. 
 
If you are a shareholder of record as of the close of business on March 22, 2022, the record date for the 
Annual Meeting, you will be able to virtually attend the Annual Meeting, vote your shares and submit your 
questions online during the meeting by visiting www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/INFN2022. You will need 
to enter the 16-digit control number included on your notice, on your proxy card or on the instructions that 
accompanied your proxy materials. 
 
If you are a shareholder holding your shares in “street name” as of the close of business on March 22, 2022, 
you may gain access to the meeting by following the instructions in the voting instruction card provided by 
your broker, bank, trustee or other nominee. You may not vote your shares electronically at the Annual 
Meeting unless you receive a valid “legal proxy” from your broker, bank, trustee or other nominee. 
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The online meeting will begin promptly at 10:00 a.m., Pacific time. We encourage you to access the meeting 
prior to the start time. Online check-in will begin at 9:45 a.m., Pacific time, and you should allow 
approximately 15 minutes for the online check-in procedures. 
 
If you wish to submit a question for the Annual Meeting, you may do so in advance at 
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/INFN2022, or you may type it into the dialog box provided at any point 
during the virtual meeting (until the floor is closed to questions). If we receive substantially similar questions, 
we may group such questions together and provide a single response to avoid repetition. We reserve the 
right to edit profanity or other inappropriate language. 

 
 
Q: What can I do if I need technical assistance during the Annual Meeting? 
 
A: If you encounter any difficulties accessing the virtual Annual Meeting webcast please call the technical 

support number that will be posted on the Annual Meeting website log-in page. 
 
 
Q: What proposals will be voted on at the Annual Meeting? 
 
A: At the Annual Meeting, shareholders will be asked to vote on: 
 

• The election of three Class III directors to serve until the 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders or until 
their successors have been duly elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier death, resignation or 
removal from the Board; 

• The approval of the 2016 Plan, as amended, which increases the number of shares authorized for 
issuance thereunder by 8,500,000 shares; 

• The approval, on an advisory basis, of the compensation of Infinera’s NEOs, as described in the Proxy 
Statement; and 

• The ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Infinera’s independent registered public 
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. 

 
We are not currently aware of any other business to be acted upon at the Annual Meeting. If any other 
matters are properly submitted for consideration at the Annual Meeting, the persons named as proxies will 
vote the shares represented thereby at their discretion. Adjournments of the Annual Meeting may be made for 
the purpose of, among other things, soliciting additional proxies. Any adjournment may be made from time to 
time by the chairperson of the meeting or approval of the holders of common stock representing a majority of 
the votes present virtually or by proxy at the Annual Meeting, whether or not a quorum exists, without further 
notice other than by an announcement at the Annual Meeting. 
 

 
Q:  What is the voting requirement to approve each of the proposals and how does the Board recommend 

that I vote? 
 
A: Proposal 1—Directors are elected by a majority vote, which requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the 

total votes cast by holders of shares present virtually, or represented by proxy, and entitled to vote for each 
nominee at the Annual Meeting. You may vote “FOR,” “AGAINST” or “ABSTAIN” on this proposal. 
Abstentions are deemed to be votes cast and have the same effect as a vote “AGAINST” this proposal. 
Broker non-votes are not deemed to be votes cast and, therefore, are not included in the tabulation of the 
voting results on this proposal and will not affect the outcome of the vote. The Board unanimously 
recommends that you vote your shares “FOR” the nominees listed in Proposal 1. 
 
Proposal 2—The approval of the 2016 Plan, as amended, which increases the number of shares authorized 
for issuance thereunder by 8,500,000 shares, requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the total votes cast 
by holders of shares present virtually, or represented by proxy, and entitled to vote on this proposal at the 
Annual Meeting. You may vote “FOR,” “AGAINST” or “ABSTAIN” on this proposal. Abstentions are deemed to 
be votes cast and have the same effect as a vote “AGAINST” this proposal. Broker non-votes are not deemed 
to be votes cast and, therefore, are not included in the tabulation of the voting results on this proposal and will 
not affect the outcome of the vote. The Board unanimously recommends that you vote your shares 
“FOR” Proposal 2. 
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Proposal 3—The approval, on an advisory basis, of the compensation of Infinera’s NEOs requires the 
affirmative vote of a majority of the total votes cast by holders of shares present virtually, or represented by 
proxy, and entitled to vote on this proposal at the Annual Meeting. You may vote “FOR,” “AGAINST” or 
“ABSTAIN” on this proposal. Abstentions are deemed to be votes cast and have the same effect as a vote 
“AGAINST” this proposal. Broker non-votes are not deemed to be votes cast and, therefore, are not included 
in the tabulation of the voting results on this proposal and will not affect the outcome of the vote. The Board 
unanimously recommends that you vote your shares “FOR” Proposal 3. 
 
Proposal 4—The ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as Infinera’s independent registered 
public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022, requires the affirmative vote of a majority 
of the total votes cast by holders of shares present virtually, or represented by proxy, and entitled to vote on 
this proposal at the Annual Meeting. You may vote “FOR,” “AGAINST” or “ABSTAIN” on this proposal. 
Abstentions are deemed to be votes cast and have the same effect as a vote “AGAINST” this proposal. 
Broker non-votes, if any, are not deemed to be votes cast and, therefore, are not included in the tabulation of 
the voting results on this proposal and will not affect the outcome of the vote. The Board unanimously 
recommends that you vote your shares “FOR” Proposal 4. 
 

 
Stock Ownership 
 
Q: What is the difference between holding shares as a shareholder of record and as a beneficial owner? 
 
A: Shareholders of Record—If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, 

Computershare, Inc., you are the shareholder of record with respect to those shares, and the Notice has been 
sent directly to you. 
 
Beneficial Owners—If your shares are held through a broker, bank, trustee or other nominee, rather than 
directly in their own name, you are considered the “beneficial owner” of shares held in “street name.” The 
Notice has been forwarded to you by your broker, trustee or other nominee who is considered, with respect to 
those shares, the shareholder of record. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, 
bank, trustee or other nominee on how to vote your shares. For directions on how to vote shares beneficially 
held in street name, please refer to the voting instruction card provided by your broker, bank, trustee or other 
nominee. Because a beneficial owner is not the shareholder of record, you may not vote these shares 
virtually at the Annual Meeting unless you obtain a legal proxy issued in your name from the broker, bank, 
trustee or other nominee that holds your shares, giving you the right to vote your shares at the Annual 
Meeting. 
 

 
Quorum and Voting 
 
Q: Who is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting? 
 
A: Shareholders of record of our common stock at the close of business on the Record Date are entitled to 

receive notice of and to vote their shares at the Annual Meeting. Such shareholders are entitled to cast one 
vote for each share of common stock held as of the Record Date. As of the close of business on the Record 
Date, there were 213,229,397 shares of common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual 
Meeting. Shares held as of the Record Date include shares that are held directly in your name as the 
shareholder of record and those shares held for you as a beneficial owner through a broker, bank, trustee or 
other nominee. 
 

 
Q: How many shares must be present or represented to conduct business at the Annual Meeting? 
 
A: The presence virtually of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock entitled to vote at the 

Annual Meeting is necessary to constitute a quorum at the Annual Meeting. Such shareholders are counted 
as present at the meeting if they (i) are present virtually at the Annual Meeting or (ii) have properly submitted 
a proxy. 
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Under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as amended, abstentions and broker non-votes 
are counted as present and entitled to vote and are included for purposes of determining whether a quorum is 
present at the Annual Meeting. 
 

 
Q: What is a broker non-vote and how are they counted at the Annual Meeting? 
 
A: A broker non-vote occurs when the broker holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a non-

routine proposal because the broker does not have discretionary voting power with respect to such proposal. 
Broker non-votes will be counted towards the presence of a quorum, but will not be counted towards the vote 
total for any proposal. 

 
 
Q: Which proposals are considered “routine” or “non-routine?” 
 
A: The election of directors (Proposal 1), the amendment of the 2016 Plan (Proposal 2) and the non-binding 

advisory vote on Infinera’s NEO compensation (Proposal 3) are “non-routine” matters for which discretionary 
voting power does not exist under applicable rules. A broker, bank, trustee or other nominee cannot vote 
without instructions on non-routine matters, and therefore, broker non-votes may exist in connection with 
Proposals 1, 2 and 3. Thus, if you hold your shares beneficially in street name and you do not instruct your 
broker, bank, trustee or other nominee how to vote with respect to Proposals 1, 2 and 3, no votes will be cast 
on your behalf. 
 
The ratification of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm (Proposal 4) is 
considered a “routine” matter for which discretionary voting power exists under applicable rules. A broker, 
bank, trustee or other nominee may generally vote on routine matters without instructions from the beneficial 
owner of the shares being voted, and therefore no broker non-votes are expected to exist in connection with 
Proposal 4. 
 

 
Q: How can I vote my shares virtually at the Annual Meeting? 
 
A: Shareholders of Record—Shares held in your name as the shareholder of record may be voted virtually at the 

Annual Meeting, even if previously voted by another method. You will need the 16-digit control number on 
your proxy card or voting instructions to vote at the Annual Meeting. 
 
Beneficial Owners—Shares held beneficially in street name may be voted virtually at the Annual Meeting only 
if you obtain a legal proxy issued in your name from the broker, bank, trustee or other nominee that holds 
your shares, giving you the right to virtually vote the shares at the Annual Meeting. Otherwise, you will not be 
permitted to virtually vote at the Annual Meeting. You will need the 16-digit control number on your proxy card 
or voting instructions to vote at the Annual Meeting. 
 
Even if you plan to virtually attend the Annual Meeting, we recommend that you submit your vote as 
described in the Notice and below, so that your vote will be counted if you later decide not to attend 
the Annual Meeting. 
 

 
Q: How can I vote my shares without virtually attending the Annual Meeting? 
 
A: Whether you hold shares directly as the shareholder of record or beneficially in street name, you may direct 

how your shares are voted without attending the Annual Meeting. If you are a shareholder of record, you may 
vote by submitting a proxy (please refer to the voting instructions in the Notice or below). If you hold shares 
beneficially in street name, you may vote by submitting voting instructions to your broker, bank, trustee or 
other nominee (please refer to the voting instructions provided to you by your broker, bank, trustee or other 
nominee). 
 
Internet—Shareholders of record with Internet access may submit proxies by following the instructions in the 
Notice. Shareholders who hold shares beneficially in street name may vote by accessing the website 
specified in the voting instructions provided by their brokers, banks, trustees or other nominees. 
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Telephone—Depending on how your shares are held, you may be able to vote by telephone. If this option is 
available to you, you will receive information explaining this procedure. 
 
Mail—Shareholders who have received a paper copy of a proxy card or voting instruction card by mail may 
submit their vote by completing, signing and dating their proxy card or voting instruction card where indicated 
and returning it in the accompanying prepaid envelope. 
 

 
Q: How will my shares be voted if I submit a proxy via the Internet, by telephone or by mail and do not 

make specific choices? 
 
A: If you are a shareholder of record or have obtained a proxy voting form from your broker, bank, trustee or 

other nominee that holds your shares giving you the right to vote the shares, and you submit a proxy via the 
Internet, by telephone or by mail and do not make voting selections, the shares represented by that proxy will 
be voted “FOR” the nominees listed in Proposal 1 and “FOR” Proposals 2, 3 and 4. If you are a beneficial 
owner of shares and your broker, bank, trustee or other nominee does not receive instructions from you about 
how your shares are to be voted, the shares represented by that proxy will not be voted with respect to 
Proposals 1, 2 or 3 and will be counted as broker non-votes with respect to these proposals. With respect to 
Proposal 4, your broker, bank, trustee or other nominee will have the discretion to vote your shares. 

 
 
Q: Can I change or revoke my vote? 
 
A: Subject to any rules your broker, bank, trustee or other nominee may have, you may change your proxy 

instructions at any time before your proxy is voted at the Annual Meeting. 
 
Shareholders of Record—If you are a shareholder of record, you may change your vote by (1) filing with our 
Corporate Secretary, prior to your shares being voted at the Annual Meeting, a written notice of revocation or 
a duly executed proxy card, in either case dated later than the prior proxy relating to the same shares, or (2) 
virtually attending the Annual Meeting and voting (although virtual attendance at the Annual Meeting will not, 
by itself, revoke a proxy). Any written notice of revocation or subsequent proxy card must be received by our 
Corporate Secretary prior to the taking of the vote at the Annual Meeting. Such written notice of revocation or 
subsequent proxy card should be hand delivered to our Corporate Secretary or should be sent to our principal 
executive offices, Attn: Corporate Secretary. A shareholder of record who has voted via the Internet or by 
telephone may also change his or her vote by making a timely and valid Internet or telephone vote at a later 
time but prior to 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time, on the day prior to the Annual Meeting. 
 
Beneficial Owners—If you are a beneficial owner of shares held in street name, you may change your vote by 
(1) submitting new voting instructions by any of the applicable voting methods allowed through your broker, 
trustee or other nominee, or (2) virtually attending the Annual Meeting and voting if you have obtained a proxy 
voting form from the broker, trustee or other nominee that holds your shares giving you the right to vote the 
shares. 
 

 
Q: Who will bear the cost of soliciting votes for the Annual Meeting? 
 
A: We will bear all expenses of soliciting proxies for the Annual Meeting. We may reimburse brokerage firms, 

custodians, nominees, fiduciaries and other persons representing beneficial owners of common stock for their 
reasonable expenses in forwarding solicitation materials to such beneficial owners. Directors, officers and 
employees of Infinera may also solicit proxies in person or by other means of communication. Such directors, 
officers and employees will not be additionally compensated, but may be reimbursed for reasonable out-of-
pocket expenses in connection with such solicitation. We have engaged the services of Morrow Sodali LLC, 
470 West Avenue, 3rd Floor, Stamford, Connecticut 06902, as our proxy solicitor to aid in the solicitation of 
proxies from certain brokers, banks, trustees, nominees and other institutional owners. Morrow’s fees for this 
service are estimated to be $12,500 plus expenses. 

 
 
Q: Where can I find the voting results of the Annual Meeting? 
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A: We intend to announce preliminary voting results at the Annual Meeting and will publish final results on a 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC. 

 
 
Q: Are votes confidential? Who counts the votes? 
 
A: Proxy instructions, ballots, and voting tabulations that identify individual shareholders are handled in a 

manner that protects your voting privacy. We will not disclose the proxy instructions or ballots of individual 
shareholders, except: 

 
• as necessary to meet applicable legal requirements and to assert or defend claims for or against Infinera; 

• to facilitate a successful proxy solicitation; 

• if a shareholder makes a written comment on the proxy card or otherwise communicates his or her vote 
to management; or 

• to allow the independent inspector of election to certify the results of the vote. 

A representative from Broadridge will serve as the inspector of election. 
 

 
Additional Information 
 
Q: What should I do if I receive more than one Notice or set of proxy materials? 
 
A: If you receive more than one Notice or set of proxy materials, your shares are likely registered in more than 

one name or with more than one broker, bank, trustee or nominee. Please follow the voting instructions on 
each Notice or voting instruction card that you receive to ensure that all of your shares are voted. 

 
 
Q: Can I access Infinera’s proxy materials and Annual Report on Form 10-K via the Internet? 
 
A: Our proxy materials, including this Proxy Statement and Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 

ended December 25, 2021 (the “2021 Annual Report”), will be available on our website at 
www.infinera.com/annual-meeting/, and all stockholders of record and beneficial owners will have the ability 
to vote free of charge online with their control number referred to in the Notice at www.proxyvote.com. The 
2021 Annual Report is also available on the Internet as indicated in the Notice. The 2021 Annual Report is 
not incorporated into this Proxy Statement and is not considered proxy soliciting material. 

 
 
Q:  What information from this proxy statement is incorporated by reference into certain Company SEC 

filings? 
 
A: We have made previous filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Exchange Act that 

incorporate future filings, including this proxy statement, in whole or in part. However, the Compensation 
Committee Report and the Report of the Audit Committee shall not be incorporated by reference into any 
such filings. 

 
 
Q: How can I view or request copies of Infinera’s corporate documents and SEC filings? 
 
A: Our website contains our Bylaws, Corporate Governance Guidelines, Board committee charters, Code of 

Business Conduct and Ethics, and SEC filings. To view these documents, please go to 
investors.infinera.com/ and then click on “Governance Documents” under the “Governance” heading. To view 
our SEC filings and Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed by our directors and executive officers, please go 
investors.infinera.com/ and then click on “SEC Filings” under the “Financials” heading. 
 
We will promptly deliver free of charge, upon request, a copy of our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Board 
committee charters or Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to any shareholder requesting a copy. Requests 
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should be directed to Infinera Corporation, c/o Corporate Secretary, 6373 San Ignacio Avenue, San Jose, 
California 95119. 
 
We will promptly deliver free of charge, upon request, a copy of the 2021 Annual Report and this Proxy 
Statement to any shareholder requesting a copy. Requests should be directed to Infinera Corporation, c/o 
Corporate Secretary, 6373 San Ignacio Avenue, San Jose, California 95119.  


